Maine Bike Rally - History Ride:  
This ride focuses on parts of “Ancient North Yarmouth”, an early settlement that included present day Yarmouth, North Yarmouth, Pownal, Cumberland, Freeport and Harpswell.
NOTE:  Historical sources are noted in ( )’s (see last page).  Other stops on the bicycle ride are noted with ‘#’s’.

Tidbits of Ancient North Yarmouth History:

“The first documented European settler, William Royall (for whom the Royal River was named) settled here in 1636.” (4)

“After the destruction of the first (1639, ‘Westcustago’ (Wabanaki name for Royal River)) and second settlements (1680, ‘Plantation of North Yarmouth’), due to problems with Native Americans, the town was permanently settled and incorporated in 1733 under the name of North Yarmouth, to distinguish it from Yarmouth on Cape Cod, Massachusetts.” (2) 
“Lumber has been North Yarmouth’s greatest resource.  Many years before the area was divided or settled, timber pirates were busy on the lush Casco Bay islands and inland, stripping of the prime timber that abounded…several sorts of oaks and pines, chestnut and walnut trees…The desire to exploit this rich harvest was the main reason the area of present North Yarmouth was coveted by the early land speculators long before it was opened up and settled for farming.”  (1) 
“Economic activities…had been maritime-related since the beginning of the settlement.  Lumber from inland areas was shipped out from harbor wharves.  Vessels were built along the Royal River in 1740, and by 1818 shipbuilding was a well-established business in the harbor.  Maritime-related jobs were plentiful when the shipbuilding industry peaked in Yarmouth in the 1870’s, but the industry declined rapidly; the last large vessel was built in Yarmouth harbor in 1890.”  (4)

“By 1730 53 structures had been built or started in town…A road from the meeting house (on the coast, #1) to the first falls (of the river, #2) was built in 1738.  A cart road inland to New Gloucester was built in 1742 and by 1756 a new road for hauling lumber (including ship timbers)  was built along what is now Route 115 and 231.  By 1753 a post road had been established along what is now Route 88 to facilitate land transportation to and communication with towns to the north and south.”  (3,4)

After divisions were laid out starting from a base line, which runs two miles in either direction from the Lower falls (#2) in Royal’s River, approximately on a line with E. Main St (#4). in Yarmouth, and Middle Rd. in Cumberland.  From this baseline “rangeways” were run NNW to the back line of the town, and the 120 acre lots worked out from these.  The 100 acres lots, which were laid out in a separate survey, fall in present Freeport and Pownal on the east, and Cumberland on the West.  The small gores, or irregular shaped pieces, left over when these square lots were laid out, were later sold by the town to a land speculator.” (1)
The following towns separated from North Yarmouth over the 116 years after the original incorporation:

Harpswell 1758

Freeport 1789

Pownal 1808

Cumberland 1821

Yarmouth split in 1849:  “decades of bickering between the inland and coastal communities culminated in the political separation in 1849 of the town of North Yarmouth into the towns of Yarmouth and North Yarmouth along the current boundaries.” (4)
THE RIDE:

1.  Meeting House under the Ledge  
“In 1727, 100 10–acre home lots were laid out on ‘the Neck’ and Broad Cove.  Later land divisions in 1733 granted parts of several separate 100-acre lots inland to those proprietors who had built homes and developed their shore lots.  Most of the earliest settlement was in a compact area near the shore for mutual defense.  
The first Meeting House under the Ledge, 1729, (taken down in 1849) and the first school, 1736, were built here.  The Pioneer Burial Ground, 1731, the oldest cemetery in the area, contains the graves of many of these early settlers.” (2)  
When you come down Gilman Rd (from Rte 88), you’ll see the Ledge Cemetery on the right.  There is a helpful sign at the front of the cemetery with further information about this spot in Ancient North Yarmouth’s history.  After the second house on the left (pale green), there is a dirt road called Garrison Lane.  If you walk along the edge of the house’s yard, to the left of the lilac bushes next to Garrison Lane and go back about 100 feet, you’ll see the door step of the original Meeting House under the Ledge.  Make sure to wander into the Pioneers’ Cemetery across the street.  The house on the other side of Garrison Ln, (60 Gilman) was built in 1730 and was home to the first minister of the Meeting House.

2. Yarmouth Falls (‘Lower Village’)  
The Lower Village included the 1st falls, where Rte 88 and E Main Street meet, and the 2nd falls at Bridge Street (#3) and the community that developed around them.

“A mill and bridge were built as early as 1675; these have been rebuilt many times.  A 1795 map shows saw, grist and fulling mills on these falls.  From the 1830-90’s several shipyards flourished around this harbor.  The town prospered on the related industry and many fine houses were built nearby.”  (2)
“The Falls Village…was centered around the harbor and the first and second falls.  The location of North Yarmouth Academy in this area, and the move of the Congregational Church to the corner of Main and Bridge Streets in 1818 further established the identity of the Falls Village.” (4)

For a different kind of historical wonder, (added after the “cue sheet” was made), before turning left up Marina Rd (instruction #10), continue on Rte 88 for another .2 miles.  At the far corner of Yankee Drive which runs off the left side of East Main (Rte 88), is “Herbie”, the biggest elm tree in New England.  It is about 235 years old and over 110 feet.  (Reverse and go back to instruction #10.)
3. Royal River:  Much of the development of Ancient North Yarmouth revolved around the Royal River.  “Mills flourished along all four of the Royal River falls providing services ranging from iron forging to textile carding and fulling.”  Royal’s River was early used as a highway into the inland areas.  Settlers in New Gloucester poled up it on rafts with their belongings, and timber was floated down it to the Upper Falls in Yarmouth.  Mill sites were of vital interest for any settlement. (4)
Before you turn into Royal River Park (instruction #13), note the Sparkhawk Mill at the second falls of the river.  It was built in the 1840’s, burned in 1855 and was rebuilt in 1856. At one time it was a cotton mill and produced bales of cotton, twine and seamless grain bags.  There was also a tannery here at one time.  In 1870,  the cotton mill  had 60 employees: 10 adult males, 40 adult females, 10 children. 50% of the workers were American and 50% were French Canadian.

As you ride through the park, you’ll pass the 3rd falls (there is a scenic overlook on the right) and some brick structures on the left.  Historians are not sure what these structures are but speculate that they were vats of some kind.   Paper mills existed near the 3rd falls.  As you near the far entrance of the park, you’ll see the 4th falls.  At one time there were shoe and  machine shops here.
4. Corner of Elm and Main streets

This area was called ‘Upper Village’, later ‘Yarmouthville’).  Included areas surrounding the 3rd and 4th falls.
”A separate village, with its own series of mills, developed around the crossroads of Elm and Main Streets and the Baptist Meeting House (#6).  Many early houses remain, interspersed with later mid-nineteenth century buildings.  Potteries located here used clay from nearby Brickyard Hollow, an open space between the 2 villages (Upper Village and Lower Village)” (2)  (This open space is now the location of the Library and Police Department.)
“Businesses here…were based on the availability of a wider variety of natural resources.  Once lumber was cleared from the land and sent to market, much of the inland area was farmed.  Several tanneries were established near brooks, and a number of potteries and brickyards utilized the natural clay soil” (4)

5. Grand Trunk Railroad Depot - 288 Maine Street

Montreal Railroad, later called Grand Trunk Railroad came through Yarmouth Junction in 1848.  The train carried passengers and freight and ran from Portland to Montreal with stops along the way.  The current depot, built in 1906, was placed behind the original.  The route carried passengers until 1950’s. 

6. “Old Meeting House on the Hill”: 
was originally (1796) called “North Yarmouth and Freeport Baptist Meeting House”
“...the oldest church still standing in Yarmouth.  It was built by the Baptist Society and had the first church bell in town.  After the Baptists moved to their new Church on Main Street in 1889, Mr. and Mrs. George Hammond renovated the building for use as a library and antiquarian society.  From 1910-1946 Yarmouth town meetings were held here.  Today it is maintained by the Yarmouth Village Improvement Society. (5)  Many early North Yarmouth Baptists are buried in the graveyard.
7. First School in Ancient North Yarmouth 
was actually built in 1738 near original Meeting House under the Ledge (#1).  A reconstruction of it is at junction of Sligo Rd and West Main St.

8.Walnut Hill

Area near Rte 115/Rte 9 Intersection:

“The intersection of these two early roads created the crossroads village we see today.  Many of its handsome houses were built or moved to this site around 1800 and a thriving business area grew up to cater to the needs of the increasing number of travelers.  Three taverns were operated (#10)…shops and dwellings of many other tradesmen such as blacksmiths, coopers, carpenters and carriage makers, and a general store prospered while the stage coaches plied the two major roads.  Drovers also traveled these routes bringing their herds of cattle from inland pastures to coastal markets.”  (3)
“Lumber and farm products were hauled from inland by ox teams to wharves on the coast for shipment.  When the railroad came through in 1849, road travel declined and the taverns became private homes.”  (2)

There are 135 houses from an 1871 map of current day North Yarmouth that are still standing today. “From 1870 to 1950, no new houses were built…Lack of any industries, the development of the west, the declining population of the town, empty or rented houses, overgrown farmland, depression and the changes brought about by war, all contributed to this.”  (1)

9. S.B. Chase House 
(brick house on right, 4th house from Rte 115)

Samuel Bacon Chase and Sons, carriage makers, was on the stage coach route, built in 1831, closed in 1857.
 “The carriage business was once of considerable importance in North Yarmouth.  Wheelwright’s shops were always found close to a blacksmith’s shop that could produce the many specially-shaped iron pieces necessary to the construction of any wheeled vehicle or sleigh….In earlier times, wood was obtained locally, seasoned, shaped and the whole product made and painted in the same place. (1)
10. Tavern Houses 
were eating and drinking spots and “served as central points for commerce and fellowship”.    Dances were also held here. (1).
a) Jeremiah Buxton Tavern, built in 1781 (known as the “red House” as early as 1884).  (Red house across from where Rte 9 intersects w/Rte 115)
b) Buxton  Tavern Stand: used as tavern until the 1860’s (white house across street from Red House)

c) William Buxton Tavern built in 1797, served as an inn as early as 1809 (on right, after Red House.) 
d) Hicks House (old Drinkwater Tavern) stood across from Congregational Church (#13) where vestry was later built.   Moved to current location in 1800.  One of only 4 gambrel-roofed houses known to have been built in Ancient North Yarmouth (also one of the oldest houses still standing in town).  (Grey house on left, after “The Lane”.)
11.  Rte 9 Veterans’ Memorial Highway:  monuments were set in place in 1921 when the roads were still dirt.  Designated as the Memorial Highway “to honor the men of North Yarmouth who have served in defense of their county”, including Civil War Veterans. “In 1930, at the Town’s 250th anniversary celebrations, six surviving Civil War veterans were honored—all in their 80’s or 90’s.”  “$2000 was raised for the monuments and for planting trees and fencing part of the highway.  Memorial School took its name from the Highway as did Memorial Park located near the junction with the parsonage Road.”  (1)
12.  Westcustago (Grange) Hall

“Patrons of Husbandry” has been serving the American farmer since 1867. The Grange of North Yarmouth received its charter on June 17, 1874.  From 1874-1900, local Grange members could buy supplies at a cooperatively-owned store, first at the John S. Barstow house, then the William Lufkin house.  Meetings were held in church vestry (burned down in 1978) until present Grange Hall was built in early 1950’s. Building is currently used as a community meeting place, most importantly for the annual Town Meeting. (1)
13. First Congregational Church of North Yarmouth
“Congregational” came from a Puritan concept that decisions affecting the members should be made by majority vote of the congregation, rather than by the minister alone.”  

 “As each outlying locality in turn became settled, many miles distant from the original Meeting House under the Ledge (#1), a new parish was formed for its convenience.  Members were dismissed by letter from the original First Parish Church to become members of the Second or Third Parish.”  Naming became even more confusing when parishes became separate towns.

This church thus was called:

Part of the North West Congregational Society (1794-1806)

Third Parish of North Yarmouth (1806-1821)

Second Parish of North Yarmouth (1821-1849)

First Parish of North Yarmouth (1849-1945

The present building was constructed in 1839.  This spot was the place of earliest settlement of present-day North Yarmouth.  The first town meetings of present-day North Yarmouth, following the ‘secession’ of Yarmouth in 1849, were held at Congregational church until Town House (#20) was built in 1853.  Earlier Meeting House (church), built in 1794, was just behind the present building, and faced Route 231. From 1850’s until 1900 this community was place of thriving carriage-making business. It also included a blacksmith.  There is a granite sign post here that at one time carried 3 sign boards.  (1)  
14. Marston’s Mill 
Chandler’s Brook where Milliken Road crosses river
First mentioned in 1773 and still in operation into the 1860’s (no vestiges exist)

“Mills were important in the development of any early New England town.  When an area was opened up, logs were abundant, but permanent houses could not be built until there was a sawmill to cut logs into boards and planks.  The coastal area of the town had several excellent mill sites and early mills near the mouth of Royal’s River. (1)
(#15-17 are optional- see cue sheet)
15. Pownal Center

“Nestles below Bradbury Mountain and was established “where the new county road intersects the town road on Range C in said Pownal”.  “The Town House, school house, church, and businesses have marked the center of this scattered township ever since”. 

16. Pownal Meeting House 

Raised  in 1811 soon after Pownal separated from Freeport (1808) was often referred to as “Bradbury Mountain”.  Still in regular use.  “Note the Greek Revival town hall opposite the church location” (2)

17.  Cattle Pound

“One of the few remaining examples of this early necessity which was built to confine stray animals until they were reclaimed by their owners”  (2)

Just before and across the street from the Cattle Pound, you’ll see a sign for the “site of Jones Tavern”.  This was built around 1820.

18.  Crocketts Corner

Most easterly village or settlement in North Yarmouth was called Crockett’s Corner.  “Nearby granite quarries furnished the many fine granite house foundations, fence posts, horse hitching posts, well stones and sign posts in town.  Examples of these may be seen at this crossroads.  Much granite was cut in NY and hauled to tidewater for shipment”.(2)

In 1871 was “very busy center with its general store, blacksmith and wheelwright’s shops, shoe shop, monument maker, cemetery, and nearby Methodist Church.  1871 map indicates “it was a settlement of some importance at that time, when the granite industry was at its height and the stage coaches were running along the County Rd (Rte 9)  (2)

The East North Yarmouth Methodist Episcopal Church at junction of West Pownal Rd  was also an important part of the community.  Erected in 1831 in the Greek Revival style with a Vestry built in 1871.  Dismantled in 1980.  (1)

19.  Dunn’s Corner

Named for Isaac Dunn, early settler who built his house there in 1859.  Atlantic and St Lawrence Railroad (later called Grand Trunk Railroad) came through Yarmouth Junction (#5) and Dunn’s Depot in 1848 (didn’t come to Walnut Hill until 1870).  Route was in existence for 40 years but the old road bed was abandoned in 1911 to avoid steep grades.
“With new railroad station, James Dunn built a new store across from the station.  An 1855 schedule of the Grand Trunk Railway lists sixteen trains a day making stops at North Yarmouth which was later called Dunn’s Station.  A siding was used to unload supplies, and in later years railroad cars were loaded with barrels of flour from a steam-powered flour mill near the store.  Goods coming into Dunn’s ran the gamut from Canadian work horses in the 1880’s to Canadian beer during Prohibition in the 1920’s.  

Railroad stops stimulated openings of stores, business, building of houses and roads.  When they ended, busy settlements died, disappeared…The Dunn’s Corner store and depot were busy places until after WWI.  Fewer trains stopped here as trucks and automobiles took over the job of transporting goods and people…The store continued in operation until the second World War.  …The depot was removed and not even a photograph of it remains.”  (1)

Blocks of ice were cut from the river below the bridge near Dunn’s Corner and also on Mill Rd and in local ponds.

Also notice the Granite Posts marking the end of Memorial Highway (beginning was up in Walnut Hill (#11).

20.   Old Town House 1853

The first Town House of present North Yarmouth…was built in 1853 (shortly after Yarmouth separated) at “what was calculated at that time to be the “Center of travel” of the very scattered township.”   This building was used as a Town Meeting place and Selectmen’s office until the 1950’s.  In the 1940’s the building was used as a school for some years.  Since 1976, it has been under the care of the North Yarmouth Historical Society. (1)  
Notice granite fence posts here and in other places around town.  “Granite quarrying was an important industry locally, especially in the area where the four towns of North Yarmouth, Yarmouth, Pownal and Freeport joined.  The granite ledge runs right across the boundary lines and many different quarries were situated in the area of Royal, Ledge and Mountfort Roads.  Some were extensively worked for many years, starting about 1826.”  (1)
21. Skyline Farm:  a living carriage museum with an antique carriage & sleigh collection, Skyline Farm is a community-based organization providing educational and recreational programs based on the role of horse-drawn transportation in the cultural, social and economic development of New England.  Stop in for a visit!   (Open to the public from 12-3 pm on Sundays. Free.)
Current Exhibit: “ Cartwheels & Carriages” “ How did the first tourists get here and what did they find when they arrived?  Boats, stage coaches, wagons, trains, trolleys, walking…all of these modes of transport helped bring our first tourists to Maine.  Come to Skyline Farm, see the impressive collection of horse-drawn vehicles that were part of the process and find out what Maine had to offer those “from away”. 
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